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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JENNIFER EHRHEART, individually and : CIVIL ACTION
on behalf of all others similarly situated

V.

LIFETIME BRANDS, INC., d/b/a :
PFALTZGRAFF, ET AL. : NO. 07-1433

ORDER-MEMORANDUM

Padova, J.

_______AND NOW, this 19th day of July, 2007, upon consideration of Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss (Docket No. 4), and Plaintiff’s response thereto, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that said
Motionis DENIED. ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff shall file an Amended Complaint
with ten (10) days of the date of this order, naming the correct defendant in place of Lifetime Brands,
Inc.

The Complaint asserts a claim against Defendant for violation of the Fair and Accurate
Transaction Act 0of 2003 (“FACTA”), which requires retailers to truncate credit card information on
electronically printed receipts given to customers. FACTA is part of the Fair Credit Reporting Act,
(“FCRA”),15U.S.C. §§ 1681 etseq. FACTA provides, in relevant part, that “no person that accepts
credit cards or debit cards for the transaction of business shall print more than the last 5 digits of the
card number or the expiration date upon any receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the
sale or transaction.” 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g)(1). This provision applies only to electronically printed
receipts. 15 U.S.C. § 161¢(g)(2). This provision took effect in two phases depending on when the
retailer’s cash register was installed: “[W]ith respect to cash registers installed on or after January

1, 2005, compliance was required immediately, while registers in use before that date were required
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to comply beginning on December 4, 2006.” Arcilla v. Adidas Promotional Retail Operations, Inc.,

Civ. A. No. 07-0211 GAF, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48206, at *4-*5 (C.D. Cal. May 7, 2007) (citing
15U.S.C. § 1681¢(g)(3)). The Complaint alleges that, after the effective date of FACTA, Defendant
“at the point of sale or transaction with Plaintiff, provided Plaintiff with one or more electronically
printed receipts on each of which Defendant printed more than the last five digits of Plaintiff’s credit
card or debit card number and/or printed the expiration date of Plaintiff’s credit or debit card.”
(Compl. q 30.) Plaintiff seeks to represent two classes of persons to whom Defendant provided
electronically printed receipts which printed more than the last five digits of their credit or debit card
or the expiration date of that persons’s credit card number. The composition of the classes is based
on the different effective dates of the act, which depend upon the date on which cash register used
by Defendant to print the offending receipt was first put into use.

Defendant Lifetime Brands, Inc. seeks dismissal of the Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). When determining a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the

court may look only to the facts alleged in the complaint and its attachments. Jordon v. Fox,

Rothschild, O’Brien & Frankel, 20 F.3d 1250, 1261 (3d Cir. 1994). The court must accept as true
all well pleaded allegations in the complaint and view them in the light most favorable to the

Plaintiff. Angelastro v. Prudential-Bache Securities, Inc., 764 F.2d 939, 944 (3d Cir. 1985).

However, the court “need not credit a complaint’s ‘bald assertions’ or ‘legal conclusions.’”

California Pub. Employee Ret. Sys. v. The Chubb Corp., 394 F.3d 126, 143 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing

Morse v. Lower Merion School Dist., 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997)). In considering a Rule

12(b)(6) motion, “we do not require heightening pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state

a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1960
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(2007).

Defendant maintains that the Complaint must be dismissed because Ehrheart lacks standing
to bring the claim asserted in the Complaint, because the Complaint fails to plausibly allege that
Defendant acted willfully, and because the Complaint names the wrong defendant. Defendant argues
that, because the Complaint does not allege that Ehrheart suffered identity theft as a result of the
alleged failure to truncate her electronically printed credit card receipt(s), she has not suffered an
injury in fact and, consequently, does not have standing to assert a claim for violation of FACTA.
FACTA, however, created a right to electronically printed receipts that truncate the consumer’s
credit card number and which do not print the expiration date of the consumer’s credit card. 15
U.S.C.§ 1681c(g). The Complaint alleges that Defendant gave Ehrheart a receipt, or receipts, which
violated FACTA by printing more than the last five digits of her credit card or debit card number
and/or printed the expiration date of her credit card. That is an injury under FACTA. Moreover,
FACTA does not require that a plaintiff have suffered actual monetary damages in order to sue for
violation of the Act. Title 15, United States Code, Section 1681n states that “[a]ny person who
willfully fails to comply with any requirement imposed under this subchapter with respect to any
consumer is liable to that consumer” for (A) any actual damages sustained by the consumer as a
result of the failure or damages of not less than $ 100 and not more than $ 1,000 ....” 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681n(a). Consequently, Plaintiff is entitled to monetary damages from Defendant as a result of
a violation of FACTA whether or not she suffered any actual monetary damages. We find that the
Complaint sufficiently alleges Plaintiff’s standing to assert the FACTA claim asserted in the
Complaint.

Defendant also argues that the Complaint should be dismissed because it does not allege that
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Defendant willfully failed to comply with Section 1681c(g). In order to be willful for purposes of
15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a), the Defendant’s violation of FACTA must have been either knowing or

reckless. See Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr, 127 S. Ct. 2201, 2208-10 (2007). The Complaint

alleges that FACTA was enacted in 2003. (Comp. § 33.) The Complaint further alleges that
Defendant knew of, or should have known of FACTA’s requirements concerning the truncating of
credit card numbers on electronically printed credit and debit card receipts and the prohibition on
printing expiration dates because, in the past several years, VISA, MasterCard, the PCI Security
Standards Council, companies that sell cash registers and other devices for processing credit and
debit card payments, and other entities have all informed Defendant of the requirements of FACTA
and Defendant’s need to comply with FACTA. (Id. 9 34.) The Complaint further alleges that,
despite knowing about and having been repeatedly informed about FACTA’s requirements regarding
the truncating of credit and debit card numbers, and prohibition on printing expiration dates, on
electronically printed receipts, and despite having three years to comply with these requirements,
Defendant violated these requirements by printing more than five digits of the credit card number
or the expiration date of the credit card on receipts provided to persons with whom Defendant
transacts business. (Id. 4 35.) We find that the Complaint sufficiently alleges that Defendant’s
violation of FACTA was either knowing or reckless and, accordingly, that the Complaint plausibly
alleges that Defendant’s violation of FACTA was willful in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a).

Defendant further argues that the Complaint should be dismissed because Plaintiff has named
the wrong defendant. Defendant states that the Pfaltzgraff stores are owned by Pfaltzgraff Factory
Stores, Inc., not by Defendant. Plaintiff has asked for the opportunity to amend her complaint to

name the correct Defendant. Plaintiff may file an amended complaint in order to name the correct
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Defendant within ten days of the date of this Order.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ John R. Padova

John R. Padova, J.



